UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ

MARILIA DE OLIVEIRA KOCH

DETECTION OF *NEOSPORA CANINUM* AND *TOXOPLASMA GONDII* IN SEMEN OF NATURALLY INFECTED RAMS, AND DETECTION OF ANTIBODIES AGAINST *SARCOCYSTIS NEURONA, NEOSPORA CANINUM* AND *TOXOPLASMA GONDII* IN HORSES, DOGS AND CATS FROM PARANÁ STATE, BRAZIL

CURITIBA

2019

MARILIA DE OLIVEIRA KOCH

DETECTION OF *NEOSPORA CANINUM* AND *TOXOPLASMA GONDII* IN SEMEN OF NATURALLY INFECTED RAMS, AND DETECTION OF ANTIBODIES AGAINST *SARCOCYSTIS NEURONA, NEOSPORA CANINUM* AND *TOXOPLASMA GONDII* IN HORSES, DOGS AND CATS FROM PARANÁ STATE, BRAZIL

> Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Veterinária, Setor de Ciências Agrárias, Universidade Federal do Paraná, como requisito parcial à obtenção do título de Doutor em Ciências Veterinárias.

> Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Rosangela Locatelli Dittrich

CURITIBA 2019

FICHA CATALOGRÁFICA

	CDU [591.69:636.09](816)
	 Doenças parasitárias. Doenças - prevenção. Sistema nervoso - doença. Protozoário. Toxoplasmose em animais. Dittrich, Rosangela Locatelli (Orientadora). Weiss, Romildo Romualdo (Coorientador). Título. Universidade Federal do Paraná.
	Tese (Doutorado) - Universidade Federal do Paraná. Setor de Ciências Agrárias, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Veterinárias. Orientadora: Rosangela Locatelli Dittrich Coorientador: Romildo Romualdo Weiss
K76d	Koch, Marilia de Oliveira Detection of <i>Neospora caninum</i> and <i>Toxoplasma gondii</i> in semen of naturally infected rams, and detection of antibodies against <i>Sarcocystis neurona</i> , <i>Neospora caninum</i> and <i>Toxoplasma gondii</i> in horses, dogs and cats from Paraná state, Brazil / Marilia de Oliveira Koch Curitiba, 2019. 42 p.: il.

Sistema de Bibliotecas/UFPR, Biblioteca de Ciências Agrárias Paula Carina de Araújo - CRB9/1562

TERMO DE APROVAÇÃO



MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO SETOR SETOR DE CIENCIAS AGRARIAS UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ PRÓ-REITORIA DE PESQUISA E PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO CIÊNCIAS VETERINÁRIAS - 40001016023P3

TERMO DE APROVAÇÃO

Os membros da Banca Examinadora designada pelo Colegiado do Programa de Pós-Graduação em CIÊNCIAS VETERINĂRIAS da Universidade Federal do Paraná foram convocados para realizar a arguição da tese de Doutorado de MARILIA DE OLIVEIRA KOCH intitulada: Detection of *Neospora Caninum* and *Toxoplasma Gondii* in semen of naturally infected rams, and detection of antibodies against *Sarcocystis Neurona, Neospora Caninum* and *Toxoplasma Gondii* in horses, dogs and cats from Paraná state, Brazil, após terem inquirido a aluna e realizado a avaliação do trabalho, são de parecer pela sua

A outorda do título de doutor está sujeita à homologação pelo colegiado, ao atendimento de todas as indicações e correções solicitadas pela banca e ao pleno atendimento das demandas regimentais do Programa de Pós-Graduação.

CURITIBA, 22 de Março de 2019.

ROSANGELA LOCATELLI DITTRICH Presidente da Banca Examinadora

RENATO ANDREOTTI E SILVA Avaliador Externo (EMBRAPA)

le an cut i unan MARCIA KIYOE SHIMADA

MARCIA KIYOE SHIMADA Avaliador Externo (UFPR /DPB)

IVAN ROQUE DE BARROS FILHO Avaliador Interno (UFPR)

ODILEI ROGERIO PRADO Avaliador Externo (UTP)

RUA DOS FUNCIONÁRIOS, 1540 - CURITIBA - Paraná - Brasil CEP 80035050 - Tel: (41) 3350-5621 - E-mail: cpgcv@ufpr.br

AGRADECIMENTOS

Agradeço a minha orientadora Dra. Rosangela Locatelli Dittrich e co-orientador Dr. Romildo Romualdo Weiss pelo apoio, orientação e ensinamentos.

Agradeço a minha mãe Léa Sandra Koch e minha tia Sônia Lins Stroud por todo apoio.

Agradeço aos residentes, pós graduandos e técnicos do laboratório de Patologia Clínica Veterinária (Hospital Veterinário da Universidade Federal do Paraná) por toda ajuda e amizade.

Aos professores do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Veterinárias pelos ensinamentos transmitidos.

À Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) pelos dois anos de bolsa concedida.

RESUMO GERAL

A presente tese de doutorado é composta de dois artigos científicos distintos. O primeiro artigo refere-se à detecção de *Neospora caninum* e *Toxoplasma gondii* no sêmen de ovinos naturalmente infectados, onde o objetivo foi detectar o DNA de *N. caninum* e *T. gondii* em amostras de sêmen fresco e palhetas de sêmen congeladas de ovinos naturalmente infectados utilizando a reação em cadeia da polimerase (PCR). Os genes Nc-5 e B1 foram usados como regiões alvo para detectar DNA de *N. caninum* e *T. gondii*, respectivamente. Foi detectado o DNA de *N. caninum* em amostra de sêmen fresco, obtido na terceira coleta de um ovino soropositivo para *N. caninum* e *T. gondii*, e o DNA de *T. gondii* foi detectado em uma amostra de sêmen fresco de ovino soropositivo para *T. gondii*.

O segundo artigo estuda a prevalência de anticorpos contra Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum e Toxoplasma gondii em cavalos, cães e gatos da região de Curitiba, no estado do Paraná, Brasil. O objetivo deste estudo foi investigar a ocorrência e distribuição de anticorpos contra os três protozoários em cavalos, cães e gatos de Curitiba no Paraná. Foram selecionadas amostras de soro de 100 cavalos, 100 cães e 100 gatos da rotina do Laboratório de Patologia Clínica Veterinária do Hospital Veterinário da Universidade do Paraná (UFPR). Os anticorpos contra S. neurona, N. caninum e T. gondii foram encontrados amplamente distribuídos entre cavalos, cães e gatos na região de Curitiba, estado do Paraná, Brasil. **Palavras-chave**: Carneiros. Ovelhas. Ovinos. Taquizoítos. Palheitas de sêmen congeladas. Sêmen fresco. Sarcocistose. Neosporose. Toxoplasmose. Sinais neurológicos.

ABSTRACT

This thesis is composed of two distinct scientific articles. The first article refers to the detection of *Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* in semen of naturally infected rams, where the objective was to detect the DNA of *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* in fresh and frozen semen samples from naturally infected sheep using polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The Nc-5 and B1 genes were used as target regions to detect *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* DNA, respectively. *N. caninum* DNA was detected in a fresh semen sample obtained from the third collection of a seropositive ram for *N. caninum* and *T. gondii*, and *T. gondii* DNA was detected in a sample of fresh sheep semen seropositive for *T. gondii*.

The second article studies the prevalence of antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona*, *Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* in horses, dogs and cats of the Curitiba region, in the state of Paraná, Brazil. The objective of this study was to investigate the occurrence and distribution of antibodies against the three protozoa in horses, dogs and cats of Curitiba, Paraná. Serum samples of 100 horses, 100 dogs and 100 cats from the routine of the Veterinary Clinical Pathology Laboratory of the Veterinary Hospital in the University of Paraná (UFPR) were selected. The antibodies against *S. neurona*, *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* were found widely distributed among horses, dogs and cats in the region of Curitiba, state of Paraná, Brazil.

Keywords: Male sheep. Ewes. Ovine. Tachyzoites. Frozen extended semen straws. Fresh semen. Sarcocystosis. Neosporosis. Toxoplasmosis. Neurological signs.

RESUMO DO ARTIGO I

O objetivo deste estudo foi detectar o DNA de Neospora caninum e Toxoplasma gondii em amostras de sêmen fresco e palhetas de sêmen congeladas de ovinos naturalmente infectados. Neste estudo foram avaliadas amostras de sêmen fresco e palhetas de sêmen congeladas de 38 ovinos de centros de inseminação artificial. Dos 38 ovinos, 11 eram soropositivos para N. caninum e/ou T. gondii e foram selecionados para coleta de sêmen fresco (coletas realizadas nos dias 1, 50, 55 e 58) com um total de 20 coletas. Dos outros 27 ovinos foram selecionadas 27 palhetas de sêmen congeladas, para análise. No total, 20 amostras de sêmen fresco e 27 amostras de sêmen congelado foram utilizadas para detectar a presença do DNA de N. caninum e T. gondii pela reação em cadeia da polimerase (PCR). Os genes Nc-5 e B1 foram usados como regiões alvo para detectar DNA de N. caninum e T. gondii, respectivamente. O DNA de N. caninum foi detectado no sêmen fresco, obtido na terceira coleta de um ovino soropositivo para N. caninum e T. gondii. O DNA de T. gondii foi detectado em uma amostra de sêmen fresco de ovino soropositivo para T. gondii. As seqüências nucleotídicas obtidas apresentaram 99% e 100% de identidade com o DNA de N. caninum e T. gondii, respectivamente, em comparação com outras següências depositadas no GenBank. N. caninum e T. gondii não foram detectados em nenhuma das 27 palhetas de sêmen congeladas usadas para inseminação artificial. Este estudo demonstrou a presença de DNA de N. caninum e T. gondii em amostras de sêmen fresco de ovinos naturalmente infectados.

Palavras-chave: Carneiros. Ovelhas. Ovinos. Taquizoítos. Palheitas de sêmen congeladas. Sêmen fresco.

ABSTRACT ARTICLE I

The aim of this study was to detect DNA of Neospora caninum and Toxoplasma gondii in fresh semen and frozen extended semen straws of naturally infected rams used for artificial insemination. Semen samples of 38 rams from artificial insemination centers were evaluated. Of the 38 rams, eleven were naturally infected (seropositive for anti-N. caninum and/or anti-T. gondii IgG) and were selected for fresh semen and blood collection (collections on days 1, 50, 55 and 58), with a total of 20 fresh semen samples and serum. Other 27 rams had their frozen extended semen straws analyzed. A total of 20 fresh semen samples and 27 frozen extended semen straws samples were used to detect the presence of N. caninum and T. gondii DNA by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Nc-5 and B1 genes were used as target regions to detect N. caninum and T. gondii DNA, respectively. The presence of N. caninum DNA was confirmed in the third collection of a fresh semen sample of one seropositive ram. T. gondii DNA was detected in a fresh semen sample of one seropositive ram. The nucleotide sequences obtained presented 99% and 100% identity with N. caninum and T. gondii DNA, respectively, compared with other sequences deposited at GenBank. N. caninum and T. gondii were not detected in any of the 27 frozen extended semen straws used for artificial insemination. This study demonstrated the presence of N. caninum and T. gondii DNA in fresh semen samples of naturally infected rams.

Keywords: Male sheep. Ewes. Ovine. Tachyzoites. Frozen extended semen straws. Fresh semen.

RESUMO DO ARTIGO II

O objetivo deste estudo foi investigar a ocorrência e distribuição de anticorpos contra Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum e Toxoplasma gondii em cavalos, cães e gatos de Curitiba, Paraná. Amostras de soro de 100 cavalos, 100 cães e 100 gatos da rotina do Laboratório de Patologia Clínica Veterinária do Hospital Veterinário da Universidade do Paraná (UFPR) foram selecionadas. As 100 amostras de soro de cães eram de 2 grupos: 35 amostras de cães com sinal neurológico (convulsão) e 65 amostras de cães sem sinais neurológicos. Os animais eram adultos de diferentes raças, machos e fêmeas. As amostras foram analisadas pelo teste de reação de imunofluorescência indireta (RIFI) para os protozoários S. neurona, N. caninum e T. gondii nas seguintes diluições de corte: cavalos: 1:50, 1:50 e 1:16; cães: 1:50, 1:50 e 1:16; gatos: 1:50, 1:50 e 1:50, respectivamente. Os resultados obtidos foram 42% dos cavalos, 7% dos cães e 5% dos gatos soropositivos para S. neurona; 58% dos cavalos, 68% dos cães e 42% dos gatos soropositivos para N. caninum; e 36% dos cavalos, 20% dos cães e 21% dos gatos soropositivos para T. gondii. Entre os cães com sinail neurológico, 8,6%, 68,6% e 25,7% deles foram soropositivos para S. neurona, N. caninum e T. gondii, respectivamente. E entre os cães sem sinais neurológicos, 6,2% 67,7% e 16,9% deles foram soropositivos para S. neurona, N. caninum e T. gondii, respectivamente. Não foi encontrada diferença estatística entre os grupos de cães soropositivos para os três protozoários com sinal neurológico e sem sinais neurológicos. Coinfecção e altos títulos de anticorpos foram detectados. Os anticorpos contra Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum e Toxoplasma gondii foram encontrados amplamente distribuídos entre cavalos, cães e gatos na região de Curitiba, estado do Paraná, Brasil.

Palavras-chave: Sarcocistose. Neosporose. Toxoplasmose. Sinais neurológicos.

ABSTRACT ARTICLE II

The aim of this study was to investigate the occurrence and distribution of antibodies against Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum and Toxoplasma gondii in horses, dogs and cats from Curitiba, Paraná state. Serum samples of 100 horses, 100 dogs and 100 cats from the routine of the Veterinary Clinical Pathology Laboratory in the Veterinary Hospital of the University of Paraná (UFPR) were selected. The 100 dogs' samples were divided into 2 groups: 35 samples from dogs with neurological sign (convulsion) and 65 samples from dogs without neurological signs. The animals were adults of different breeds, males and females. The samples were analyzed by indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT) for protozoa S. neurona, N. caninum and T. gondii at the following cut-off dilutions: horses: 1:50, 1:50 and 1:16; dogs: 1:50, 1:50 and 1:16; cats: 1:50, 1:50 and 1:50, respectively. The results obtained were 42% of horses, 7% of dogs and 5% of cats seropositive for S. neurona; 58% of horses, 68% of dogs and 42% of cats seropositive to N. caninum; and 36% of horses, 20% of dogs and 21% of cats seropositive for T. gondii. Among the dogs with neurological sign, 8.6%, 68.6% and 25.7% of them were found seropositive for S. neurona, N. caninum and T. gondii, respectively. And among the dogs without neurological signs 6.2% 67.7% and 16.9% of them were found seropositive for S. neurona, N. caninum and T. gondii, respectively. No statistical difference was found between groups of seropositive dogs for the three protozoa with neurological sign and without neurological signs. Co-infection and high antibody titers were detected. The antibodies against Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum and Toxoplasma gondii were found widely distributed among horses, dogs and cats in the region of Curitiba, state of Paraná, Brazil.

Keywords: Sarcocystosis. Neosporosis. Toxoplasmosis. Neurological signs.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	12
DETECTION OF NEOSPORA CANINUM AND TOXOPLASMA GON	DII IN SEMEN
OF NATURALLY INFECTED RAMS	12
1 INTRODUCTION	12
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	13
2.1 ANIMALS AND SAMPLES	13
2.2 INDIRECT FLUORESCENT ANTIBODY TEST (IFAT)	15
2.3 COLLECTION OF SEMEN	16
2.4 DNA EXTRACTION	16
2.5 HEMI-NESTED PCR TO DETECT N. CANINUM DNA	16
2.6 NESTED PCR TO DETECT T. GONDII DNA	17
2.7 SEQUENCING ANALYSIS	17
3 RESULTS	18
4 DISCUSSION	20
REFERENCES	23
ARTICLE II	27
DETECTION OF ANTIBODIES AGAINST SARCOCYSTIS NEURO	NA, NEOSPORA
CANINUM AND TOXOPLASMA GONDII IN HORSES, DOGS AND	CATS FROM
PARANÁ STATE, BRAZIL	27
1 INTRODUCTION	27
2 MATERIAL AND METHODS	29
2.1 ANIMALS AND SAMPLES	29
2.2 CULTIVATION OF PARASITES TO PRODUCE ANTIGEN	29
2.3 INDIRECT FLUORESCENCE ANTIBODY TEST (IFAT)	
2.4 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	
3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	30
4 CONCLUSION	34
REFERENCES	35
SUPPLEMENT	42

ARTICLE I

Detection of *Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* in semen of naturally infected rams

1 INTRODUCTION

Natural infection of sheep by *Neospora caninum* was first identified in 1990 in a congenitally infected lamb with signs of ataxia and weakness after birth [1], and *Toxoplasma gondii* infection was described for the first time in 1942, in an ewe presenting nervous symptomology, increased temperature and muscular rigidity [2].

Neospora caninum and *Toxoplasma gondii* are closely related cyst-forming apicomplexan parasites identified as important causes of reproductive failure in cattle [3,4]. Moreover, abortion cases attributed to *N. caninum* [1,5,6] and *T. gondii* [7-10] infection have been occasionally reported in sheep. These parasites have already been identified in 77% of 74 brain samples from aborted sheep fetuses [11].

Sexual transmission (horizontal transmission) by contaminated semen has been studied, and the presence of *N. caninum* DNA in the semen of naturally infected bulls [12-18] and experimentally infected rams was reported [19].

Experimental studies showed the presence of *T. gondii* in the semen and/or reproductive tract of some species, such as dogs [20], goats [21,22], swine [23], cattle [24], and rams [25-28]. Studies performed with naturally infected animals have shown the detection of *T. gondii* only in the semen of rams [29,30] and dogs [31], suggesting a new route of elimination of the parasite that can cause reproductive damage and be sexually transmitted [32].

Studies on the elimination of *N. caninum* and its potential transmission via semen in rams are scarce. The recent experimental study by Syed-Hussain *et al.* [19] showed the intermittent detection of *N. caninum* DNA in the semen of rams up to five weeks post-inoculation, with the concentrations ranging from that equivalent to 1-889 tachyzoites per mL of semen, but none of the ewes mated with the experimentally infected rams seroconverted. This experimental study demonstrates the need to investigate the presence of the parasite in semen samples from naturally infected rams that are used for reproduction, including frozen extended semen straws used for artificial insemination.

Studies have only found *N. caninum* DNA in frozen extended semen straws samples from cattle [12,13,16], demonstrating the need to carry out the research for the detection of *N. caninum* in frozen extended semen straws from rams used for reproduction.

We tested all the samples for the closely related protozoan *T. gondii* to detect a possible cross-reaction and co-infection, due to the close similarity with *N. caninum*.

Due to the relatively scarce information on the molecular detection of *N. caninum* in the semen of naturally infected rams, the purpose of this study was to detect parasitic DNA in fresh semen samples and in frozen extended semen straws from male sheep from artificial inseminations centers in Southern Brazil.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

This Project was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Department of Agricultural Sciences (CEUA SCA) under the protocol number 065/2016.

2.1 ANIMALS AND SAMPLES

Thirty-eight rams aged 1-6 years (Dorper, Texel, White Dorper, Suffolk, and crossbreed), with no history of reproductive problems, from three rural properties with sporadic occurrences of abortions in pregnant ewes, in the state of Paraná, Southern Brazil, were included in this study to detect *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* DNA in fresh and frozen semen samples.

Of the 38 rams, 11 were previously seropositive for *N. caninum* and/or *T. gondii* IgG antibodies and were selected for posterior collections of fresh semen and blood samples. A total of twenty semen samples and serum were collected from these 11 rams seropositive for *N. caninum* and/or *T. gondii* IgG antibodies (identified with numbers 1-11).

Twenty semen samples were collected from 11 rams seropositive for *N. caninum* and/or *T. gondii* IgG antibodies (identified with numbers 1-11) that had been selected to detect *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* DNA in fresh semen samples (Table 1). Twenty-seven frozen extended semen straws samples from 27 other breeding rams belonging to the same rural properties were used to detect *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* DNA. Since we did not have access to these animals, serological data is not known.

11 Rams	Day 1	Day 50	Day 55	Day 58
1	fresh semen	fresh semen	fresh semen	nd
2	fresh semen	fresh semen	fresh semen	nd
3	fresh semen	fresh semen	fresh semen	nd
4	fresh semen	nd	nd	fresh semen
5	fresh semen	nd	nd	fresh semen
6	fresh semen	nd	nd	fresh semen
7	fresh semen	nd	nd	nd
8	fresh semen	nd	nd	nd
9	fresh semen	nd	nd	nd
10	fresh semen	nd	nd	nd
11	fresh semen	nd	nd	nd

Table 1 – Twenty fresh semen samples obtained from 11 seropositive rams (identified with numbers 1-11) were collected on days 1, 50, 55 and 58:

"nd" Denotes no sample was collected.

Samples of fresh semen were collected using an artificial vagina and according to the availability of ewes in estrus. Fifteen minutes after collecting semen samples, blood samples were collected without anticoagulant by puncturing the jugular vein. Blood and semen samples from the 11 rams were collected on days 1, 50, 55 and 58. Samples were refrigerated at 4°C and transported to the laboratory within 2 hours.

Sera from the 11 rams were obtained by centrifuging the blood at $3000 \times g$ for 10 minutes and, then, stored at -20°C until processing. The 20 fresh semen samples (the total volume of ejaculates ranged from 1.0-2.0 mL) were centrifuged at $1000 \times g$ for 10 minutes, and the sediments of approximately 0.5 mL were frozen at -20°C before DNA extraction.

The 27 semen straws frozen (Table 2) in 5% glycerol with 0.25 mL of extender GGL (Glycine-Yolk-Milk), and approximately 100 million spermatozoa per dose (400×10^{6} /mL) were refrigerated at 4°C for approximately 4 hours during the transport to the laboratory. Then, 0.25 mL of the sample transferred to micro-tubes and frozen at -20°C until processing.

Table 2 – Twenty-seven frozen extended semen straws samples from 27 other breeding rams with not known serological data (identified with numbers 12-38) were obtained on day 1:

27 Rams	Day 1	Day 50	Day 55	Day 58
12	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
13	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
14	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
15	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
16	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
17	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
18	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
19	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
20	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
21	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
22	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
23	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
24	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
25	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
26	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
27	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
28	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
29	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
30	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
31	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
32	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
33	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
34	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
35	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
36	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
37	semen straw	nd	nd	nd
38	semen straw	nd	nd	nd

"nd" Denotes no sample was obtained.

2.2 INDIRECT FLUORESCENT ANTIBODY TEST (IFAT)

The indirect fluorescent antibody test was used to detect IgG antibodies against *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* in the 20 serum samples from eleven rams [33]. Slides were prepared containing tachyzoites of *N. caninum* (NC-1 strain) and *T. gondii* (RH strain), obtained through cell culturing as described by Locatelli-Dittrich *et al.* [34]. Serum samples with titers 1:25 for *N. caninum* and 1:40 for *T. gondii* were considered positive as described by Guimarães *et al.* [35]. Sera were analyzed until reaching the final titer. All IFAs included known positive and negative ram serum samples as control. All samples were processed twice to ensure the quality of the results. The Monoclonal Anti-Goat/Sheep IgG-FITC antibody (F4891, Sigma-Aldrich Brazil) was used at a dilution of 1:100.

2.3 COLLECTION OF SEMEN

Fresh semen samples were collected from 11 seropositive rams on days 1, 50, 55, and 58 using an artificial vagina (Figure 1) and ewe in estrus. The artificial vagina consisted in a 20 cm \times 6 cm rigid tube and a flexible rubber tube. The space between the rigid and the flexible tube was filled with warm water at 55°C, so that the inside of the artificial vagina reached a temperature between 42°C and 45°C. The artificial vagina membrane was lubricated with aqueous base gel. When the ram jumped over the ewe, his penis was gently diverted into the artificial vagina, and the ejaculate was deposited in the collection tube [36].





2.4 DNA EXTRACTION

The DNA extraction from 20 fresh semen samples (containing 0.5 mL of semen sediment) and 27 frozen semen straws (containing 0.25 mL of sample) was performed using the PureLink® Genomic DNA Mini Kits (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

2.5 HEMI-NESTED PCR TO DETECT N. CANINUM DNA

Hemi-nested PCR was performed to detect the presence of *N. caninum* DNA by using the primer pairs Np4/Np7 and Np6/Np7 of the pNC-5 gene of *N. caninum* [37], following the protocol previously published with some modifications [38]. The 25- μ L PCR mixture contained 80 ng of target DNA, 1.5 mM of MgCl₂, 0.2 mM of dNTPs, 1 U/reaction of Taq polymerase, 1× buffer, 0.5 pmol/ μ L of primers, and Milli-Q Water qsp. PCRs using Np4/Np7 were performed in a thermocycler for 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s, annealing at 55°C for 30 s, and extension at 72°C for 30 s. For the second round, with primers Np6/Np7, 1 μ L of amplicon solution from the first-round Np4/Np7 PCR was used as target DNA, with the

same PCR mixture, with 25 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s, annealing at 54°C for 30 s, and extension at 72°C for 30 s. The secondary amplification products had a size of 227 bp. Positive (purified *N. caninum* tachyzoite DNA of the NC-1 strain) and negative (no DNA) controls were included in each PCR run. Amplicons were resolved on a 1.5% agarose gel, which was stained with SYBR® Safe DNA gel stain (Kasvi, K9-16C) and visualized under UV light.

2.6 NESTED PCR TO DETECT T. GONDII DNA

The presence of T. gondii DNA in the samples was addressed by a Nested PCR in which the target was part of the sequence of the repetitive gene B1 [39], following the protocol previously published with some modifications [40]. T. gondii DNA amplification was carried out in a 25-µL reaction volume containing 80 ng of target DNA, 1.5 mM of MgCl₂, 0.2 mM of dNTPs, 1 U/reaction of Taq polymerase, 1× buffer, 0.5 pmol/µL of primers, and Milli-Q Water qsp. The primers used in the first round were those corresponding to gene B1 nucleotides 694-714 and 887-868. PCR was performed for 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s, annealing at 56°C for 30 s, and extension at 72°C for 30 s. The primers used in the second round corresponded to gene B1 nucleotides 757-776 and 853-831 and were used in a reaction with 0,5 µL of the amplicon solution from the first-round PCR as target DNA, with the same PCR mixture, with 20 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s, annealing at 60°C for 35 s, and extension at 72°C for 30 s. The secondary amplification products had a size of 97 bp. Positive (DNA from T. gondii tachyzoites of the RH strain) and negative (no DNA) controls were included in each PCR run. Amplicons were resolved on a 1.5% agarose gel, which was stained with SYBR® Safe DNA gel stain (Kasvi, K9-16C) and visualized under UV light.

2.7 SEQUENCING ANALYSIS

PCR products were purified using PureLink® Quick Gel Extraction Kit (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's instructions, and sequence analysis was performed using primer Np7, 5'GGGTGAACCGAGGGAGTTG3', to identify the DNA sequence of *N. caninum* [38] and primer 5'TGCATAGGTTGCCAGTCACTG'3, which corresponds to the gene B1 nucleotides 853-831, to identify the DNA sequence of *T. gondii* [40]. Sequence analysis was performed using the Big Dye Terminator Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to manufacturer's instructions in an ABI DNA Model 3500 Series Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems).

Sequences were, then, subjected to BlastN analysis using the GenBank database at NCBI to confirm that the PCR-amplified sequences were those of *N. caninum* and *T. gondii*.

3 RESULTS

The anti-*N. caninum* IgG titer ranged from 1:25 to a maximum titer of 1:100 in the ram serum samples. The anti-*T. gondii* IgG titer ranged from 1:40 to a maximum titer of 1:100 (Table 1). Serum samples were considered positive to the presence of *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* if the entire surface of the tachyzoites was fluorescent (Figure 1).

Figure 1 – Positive and negative control with the indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT) in ram's serum samples:



- a) Tachyzoites of *N. caninum* with fluorescence = positive control (40X);
- b) Tachyzoites of *T. gondii* with fluorescence = positive control (40 X);
- c) Tachyzoites of *T. gondii* without fluorescence = negative control (40 X);

Among the 20 fresh semen samples from the 11 rams, *N. caninum* DNA was detected in the semen of ram 1 (Figure 2), collected on day 55 (Table 2). *T. gondii* DNA was detected in the fresh semen sample of ram 7 (Figure 3), on day 1 (Table 2).

N. caninum and/or *T. gondii* DNA were not detected in any of the 27 frozen extended semen straws.

Figure 2 – Hemi-Nested PCR results showing the amplicon of 227 bp from *N*. *caninum* DNA:



1 - Molecular weight marker 1 kb plus DNA; 2- Positive control; 5 – Positive semen sample (ram 1); 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 - Negative semen samples; 13 - Negative control.



Figure 3 – Nested PCR results showing the amplicon of 97-bp from T. gondii DNA:

1 - Molecular weight marker 1 kb plus DNA; 2 - Positive control; 4 – Positive semen sample (ram 7); 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 - Negative semen samples; 13 - Negative control.

	_	Day 1	Da	ay 50	Day	7 55	Da	ay 58
Rams	T.gondii	N. caninum						
1	-	1:50	1:40	1:50	1:40	1:50	nd	nd
2	1:40	-	1:40	-	-	-	nd	nd
3	1:40	-	1:100	-	1:100	-	nd	nd
4	-	1:100	nd	nd	nd	nd	-	1:50
5	-	1:25	nd	nd	nd	nd	-	1:25
6	1:40	-	nd	nd	nd	nd	-	-
7	1:40	-	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
8	1:100	-	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
9	1:40	-	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
10	-	1:25	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
11	-	1:50	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd

Table 1 – Titers of anti-*N. caninum* and anti-*T. gondii* IgGs detected by means of indirect fluorescence test (IFAT) in the serum of 11 rams:

"-" Denotes negative; "nd" denotes no sample available.

Table 2 - Detection of *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* DNA in fresh semen samples from 11 rams using Hemi-Nested PCR and Nested PCR, respectively:

	Day 1	Day 50	Day 55	Day 58
Rams	PCR	PCR	PCR	PCR
1	-	-	N. caninum DNA	nd
2	-	-	-	nd
3	-	-	-	nd
4	-	nd	nd	-
5	-	nd	nd	-
6	-	nd	nd	-
7	T. gondii DNA	nd	nd	nd
8	-	nd	nd	nd
9	-	nd	nd	nd
10	-	nd	nd	nd
11	-	nd	nd	nd

"-" Denotes negative; "nd" denotes no sample available.

The DNA sequences of 186 bp from *N. caninum* (GenBank accession: MH806393) and 492 bp from *T. gondii* (GenBank accession: MH793503) were obtained by sequencing, and analysis revealed 99% and 100% identity with sequences deposited at GenBank, respectively.

4 DISCUSSION

In our study, *N. caninum* DNA was detected in the semen sample from the third collection from ram 1. Syed-Hussain *et al.* [19] detected *N. caninum* DNA in the semen samples of experimentally infected seropositive rams and demonstrated sporadic parasite elimination between the first and fourth week after infection.

The ram in which semen *N. caninum* DNA was detected was seropositive for anti-*N. caninum* (1:50) and anti-*T. gondii* (1:40) IgGs. Co-infection in sheep has been reported in

abortion cases by Hughes *et al.* [11], who detected the simultaneous presence of both parasites in 12.2% of brain samples from aborted sheep fetuses.

No high IgG serological titers were detected in the rams at the time they were eliminating the parasite through semen. The final titer of anti-*N. caninum* and anti-*T. gondii* IgGs in serum was 1:100, suggesting chronic infection. Studies on serological titration of ewes that presented abortion showed titers of 1:1024 [41] and 1:800 [42] for infection with *T. gondii* and *N. caninum*, respectively, and high titration of IgG suggests acute toxoplasmosis.

The DNA of *T. gondii* was detected in the semen of ram 7, in agreement with other studies that detected *T. gondii* DNA in samples of fresh and frozen semen from naturally infected rams used for reproduction [29,30].

In our study, *T. gondii* and *N. caninum* DNAs were not detected in the 27 frozen extended semen straws used for artificial insemination. This result is different from that in the study from Bezerra *et al.* [30], where *T. gondii* DNA was detected in 22.2% of frozen semen samples and in 100% of fresh semen samples from seropositive rams commercialized in artificial insemination centers in Northeastern Brazil.

The non-detection of *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* DNA in frozen semen samples of rams could be also due to the dilution that was used to prepare the semen straws (GGL diluent and 5% glycerol), since fresh semen samples were not diluted prior to the test. Moreover, in our study, the volume of frozen semen samples (0.25 mL) used for PCR was lower than the volume of sediment obtained from fresh semen (0.5 mL), and the fresh semen centrifugation to obtain the sediment may have grouped the tachyzoites, increasing the sensitivity of the technique employed.

Ortega-Mora *et al.* [12] investigated the presence of *N. caninum* DNA in fresh nonextended semen straws and frozen extended semen straws of eight bulls and detected a smaller number of positive samples in frozen semen than in fresh, indicating that positive results may be considered as confirmatory, but negative results cannot be considered as true negative.

Caetano-Da-Silva *et al.* [13] detected *Neospora* DNA sporadically in frozen semen samples from seropositive cattle. They also demonstrated that the non-detection of protozoa DNA in frozen semen samples can be explained by the low number of parasites in the sample, which is undetectable by the technique used, or by the fact that, when testing frozen semen samples with a low concentration of target molecules, it is likely that *Neospora* DNA will be absent in each tube of the reaction, resulting in a false negative PCR result.

The nucleotide sequence obtained from the semen sample where *N. caninum* DNA was detected presented 99% identity with sequences deposited in GenBank, and, among them, a sequence deposited by Hughes *et al.* [11], who detected the presence of *N. caninum* in 18.9% of brain samples from aborted lambs, but not in other tissues, such as heart and umbilical cord samples, from these fetuses.

Our results indicate that further studies are needed to evaluate the real potential of *N. caninum* transmission via semen, like using one protozoa isolated from semen of naturally infected rams to inseminate ewes. There is a variation in degrees of pathogenicity among different protozoan isolates that has already been demonstrated experimentally for the *N. caninum* parasite, such as different viability *in vitro* [43], transplacental transmission [44,45], and histopathological lesions [46]; however, no study has evaluated the horizontal transmission capacity (via semen) of different isolates. The experimental study of Syed-Hussain *et al.* [19] demonstrated that the transmission of *N. caninum* via semen in sheep is unlikely, since ewes that had copulated with rams experimentally infected with the NcNZ1 isolate and that had *N. caninum* in semen did not present seroconversion. However, further studies with different isolates are required to confirm the non-transmission of *N. caninum* via semen.

The nucleotide sequence obtained from the *T. gondii* DNA-positive semen sample showed 100% identity with many sequences deposited in the GenBank database, and, among them, *T. gondii* sequences obtained from sheep tissue samples, confirming the result obtained by PCR.

It is suggested that a new parasite elimination pathway is occurring among rams used for reproduction, due to the presence of *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* DNA in fresh semen samples from seropositive animals. Although the detection of genomic DNA of *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* in semen does not necessarily imply the presence of infectious stages of the parasites and does not determine their viability, these results demonstrate the need for further studies.

Our study also indicates the need to reinforce preventive measures for sheep in artificial insemination centers until the risks are evaluated, by performing serological examinations with anti-*N. caninum* and anti-*T. gondii* antibodies, for instance, to select the rams that will be used for breeding.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that naturally infected, *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* seropositive rams can eliminate the protozoa through semen.

REFERENCES

- [1] Dubey JP and Lindsay DS. *Neospora caninum* induced abortion in sheep. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 1990;2:230-3. doi: 10.1177/104063879000200316.
- [2] Olafson P and Monlux WS. *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in animals. The Cornell Veterinarian 1942;32:176-190.
- [3] Dubey JP, Schares G, Ortega-Mora LM. Epidemiology and control of neosporosis and *Neospora caninum*. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 2007;20:323–67. doi:10.1128/CMR.00031-06.
- [4] Dubey JP and Schares G. Neosporosis in animals-The last five years. Veterinary Parasitology 2011;180:90–108. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2011.05.031.
- [5] Pinto AP, Bacha FB, Santos BS, Driemeier D, Antoniassi NAB, de Sá Ribas NLK, et al. Sheep abortion associated with *Neospora caninum* in Mato Grosso do Sul, Brazil. Pesquisa Veterinaria Brasileira 2012;32:739–42. doi:10.1590/S0100-736X2012000800010.
- [6] González-Warleta M, Castro-Hermida JA, Regidor-Cerrillo J, Benavides J, Álvarez-García G, Fuertes M, et al. *Neospora caninum* infection as a cause of reproductive failure in a sheep flock. Veterinary Research 2014;45:1–9. doi:10.1186/s13567-014-0088-5.
- [7] Weissmann J. Presumptive *Toxoplasma gondii* abortion in a sheep. Canadian Veterinary Journal 2003;44:322–4.
- [8] Giadinis ND, Terpsidis K, Diakou A, Siarkou V, Loukopoulos P, Osman R, et al. Massive toxoplasma abortions in a dairy sheep flock and therapeutic approach with different doses of sulfadimidine. Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences 2011;35:207–11. doi:10.3906/vet-0910-170.
- [9] De Moraes EPBX, da Costa MM, Dantas AFM, da Silva JCR, Mota RA. *Toxoplasma gondii* diagnosis in ovine aborted fetuses and stillborns in the State of Pernambuco, Brazil. Veterinary Parasitology 2011;183:152–5. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2011.06.023.
- [10] Lopes WDZ, Rodriguez JDA, Souza FA, dos Santos TR, dos Santos RS, Rosanese WM, et al. Sexual transmission of *Toxoplasma gondii* in sheep. Veterinary Parasitology 2013;195:47–56. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2012.12.056.
- [11] Hughes JM, Williams RH, Morley EK, Cook DA, Terry RS, Murphy RG, et al. The prevalence of *Neospora caninum* and co-infection with *Toxoplasma gondii* by PCR analysis in naturally occurring mammal populations. Parasitology 2006;132:29–36. doi:10.1017/S0031182005008784.
- [12] Ortega-Mora LM, Ferre I, Del-Pozo I, Caetano-Da-Silva A, Collantes-Fernández E, Regidor-Cerrillo J, et al. Detection of *Neospora caninum* in semen of bulls. Veterinary Parasitology 2003;117:301–8. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2003.09.015.
- [13] Caetano-Da-Silva A, Ferre I, Collantes-Fernández E, Navarro V, Aduriz G, Ugarte-

Garagalza C, et al. Occasional detection of *Neospora caninum* DNA in frozen extended semen from naturally infected bulls. Theriogenology 2004;62:1329–36. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2004.01.010.

- [14] Ferre I, Aduriz G, Del-Pozo I, Regidor-Cerrillo J, Atxaerandio R, Collantes-Fernandez E, et al. Detection of *Neospora caninum* in the semen and blood of naturally infected bulls. Theriogenology 2005;63:1504–18. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2004.07.002.
- [15] Ferre I, Serrano-Martínez E, Martínez A, Osoro K, Mateos-Sanz A, del-Pozo I, et al. Effects of re-infection with *Neospora caninum* in bulls on parasite detection in semen and blood and immunological responses. Theriogenology 2008;69:905–11. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2007.11.006.
- [16] Sharifzadeh A, Doosti A, Dehkordi PG. PCR assay for detection of *Neospora caninum* in fresh and frozen semen specimens of Iranian bulls. World Applied Sciences Journal 2012;17:742–9.
- [17] Jozani RJ, Asadpour R, Nematolahi A, Hosseininejad M. Detection of nonspermatozoal cells of *Neospora caninum* in fresh semen of naturally infected bulls. Acta Scientiae Veterinariae 2012;40:1–7.
- [18] Doosti A, Khamesipour F, Nekoei S, Lutvikadic I. Survey for the presence of *Neospora caninum* in frozen bull's semen samples by PCR assay. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Disease 2015;5:7–12. doi:10.1016/S2222-1808(14)60618-6.
- [19] Syed-Hussain SS, Howe L, Pomroy WE, West DM, Smith SL, Williamson NB. Detection of *Neospora caninum* DNA in semen of experimental infected rams with no evidence of horizontal transmission in ewes. Veterinary Parasitology 2013;197:534–42. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2013.06.002.
- [20] Arantes TP, Lopes WDZ, Ferreira RM, Pieroni JSP, Pinto VMR, Sakamoto CA, et al. *Toxoplasma gondii*: Evidence for the transmission by semen in dogs. Experimental Parasitology 2009;123:190–4. doi:10.1016/j.exppara.2009.07.003.
- [21] Dubey JP and Sharma SP. Prolonged excretion of *Toxoplasma gondii* in semen of goats. American Journal of Veterinary Research 1980;41:794-795.
- [22] Santana LF, Costa AJ da, Pieroni J, Lopes WDZ, Santos RS, Oliveira GP de, et al. Detection of *Toxoplasma gondii* in the reproductive system of male goats. Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária 2010;19:179–82. doi:10.1590/S1984-29612010000300010.
- [23] Moura AB, Costa AJ, Jordão Filho S, Paim BB, Pinto FR, Di Mauro DC. *Toxoplasma gondii* in semen of experimentally infected swine. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira 2007;27:430–4. doi:10.1590/S0100-736X2007001000008.
- [24] Scarpelli L, Lopes WDZ, Migani M, Bresciani KDS, Costa AJ Da. *Toxoplasma gondii* in experimentally infected Bos taurus and Bos indicus semen and tissues. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira 2009;29:59–64. doi:10.1590/S0100-736X2009000100009.

- [25] Teale AJ, Blewett DA, Miller JK, Buxton D. Experimentally induced toxoplasmosis in young rams: The clinical syndrome and semen secretion of *Toxoplasma*. Veterinary Record 1982;111:53-55.
- [26] Aganga AO, Umoh JU, Kyewalabye EK, Ekwempu CC. Comparative experimental transmission studies with Nigerian isolates and TS-I strain of *Toxoplasma gondii* in sheep. Journal of Animal Production Research 1988; 8:104-120.
- [27] Spence JB, Beattie J, Faulkner L, Watson WA. *Toxoplasma gondii* in the semen of rams. Veterinary Record 1978; 102:38-39.
- [28] Lopes WDZ, da Costa AJ, Santana LF, Dos Santos RS, Rossanese WM, Lopes WCZ, et al. Aspects of toxoplasma infection on the reproductive system of experimentally infected rams (ovis aries). Journal of Parasitology Research 2009;2009. doi:10.1155/2009/602803.
- [29] Moraes ÉPBX, Faria EB, Batista AM, Freitas AC, Silva JCR, Albuquerque PPF, et al. *Toxoplasma gondii* detection in the semen of naturally infected sheep. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira 2010;30:915–7. doi:1590/S0100-736X2010001100003.
- [30] Bezerra M, Cruz J, Kung E, Albuquerque P, Kim P, Moraes E, et al. Detection of *Toxoplasma gondii* DNA in Fresh and Frozen Semen from Rams in Brazil. Reproduction in Domestic Animals 2014;49:753–5. doi:10.1111/rda.12361.
- [31] Koch MO, Weiss RR, Cruz AA, Soccol VT, Gonçalves KA, Bertol MAF, et al. Detection and isolation of *Toxoplasma gondii* from fresh semen of naturally infected dogs in Southern Brazil. Reproduction in Domestestic Animals 2016;51:550–4. doi:10.1111/rda.12718.
- [32] De Moraes ÉPBX, Batista AM, Faria EB, Freire RL, Freitas AC, Silva MAR, et al. Experimental infection by *Toxoplasma gondii* using contaminated semen containing different doses of tachyzoites in sheep. Veterinary Parasitology 2010;170:318–22. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2010.02.017.
- [33] Moraes LM de B, Raimundo JM, Guimarães A, Santos HA, Macedo Junior G de L, Massard CL, et al. Occurrence of anti-*Neospora caninum* and anti-*Toxoplasma gondii* IgG antibodies in goats and sheep in western Maranhão, Brazil. Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária 2011;20:312–7. doi:10.1590/S1984-29612011000400010.
- [34] Locatelli-Dittrich R, Dittrich JR, Richartz RRTB, Gasino Joineau ME, Antunes J, Pinckney RD, et al. Investigation of *Neospora sp.* and *Toxoplasma gondii* antibodies in mares and in precolostral foals from Parana State, Southern Brazil. Veterinary Parasitology 2006;135:215–21. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2005.10.010.
- [35] Guimarães A, Raimundo JM, Moraes LMB, Silva AT, Santos HA, Pires MS, et al. Occurrences of anti-*Toxoplasma gondii* and anti-*Neospora caninum* antibodies in sheep from four districts of Tocantins state, Brazilian Legal Amazon Region. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira 2015;35:110–4. doi:10.1590/S0100-736X2015000200002.
- [36] Ferra JDC, Sereno JRB. Artificial Insemination in sheep. Embrapa 2006; ISSN 1517-

5111:11-14.

- [37] Yamage M, Flechtner O, Gottstein B. *Neospora caninum*: Specific oligonucleotide primers for the detection of brain "cyst" DNA of experimentally infected nude mice by the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The Journal of Parasitology 1996;82:272-9.
- [38] Baszler TV, Gay LJC, Long MT, Mathison BA. Detection by PCR of *Neospora caninum* in Fetal Tissues from Spontaneous Bovine Abortions. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 1999;37:4059–64. doi: 0095-1137/99/\$04.0010.
- [39] Burg JL, Grover CM, Pouletty P, Boothroyd JC. Direct and sensitive detection of a pathogenic protozoan, *Toxoplasma gondii*, by polymerase chain reaction. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 1989;27:1787–92. doi: 0095-1137/89/081787-06\$02 .00/0.
- [40] Fuentes I, Rodriguez M, Domingo CJ, Del Castillo F, Juncosa T, Alvar J. Urine sample used for congenital toxoplasmosis diagnosis by PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 1996;34:2368–71. doi: 0095-1137/96/\$04.0010.
- [41] Buxton D. Ovine toxoplasmosis: a review. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine 1990;83(8):509-511.
- [42] Weston JF, Howe L, Collett MG, Pattison RS, Williamson NB, West DM, Pomroy WE, Syed-Hussain SS, Morris ST, Kenyon PR. Dose-titration challenge of young pregnant sheep with *Neospora caninum* tachyzoites. Veterinary Parasitology 2009;164(2-4):183-91. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2009.05.013.
- [43] Regidor-cerrillo J, Rojo-montejo S, Collantes-ferna E, Pedraza-di S, Blanco-murcia J, Prenafeta A, et al. Isolation and characterization of a bovine isolate of *Neospora caninum* with low virulence. Veterinary Parasitology 2009;159:7–16. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2008.10.009.
- [44] Regidor-Cerrillo, J.; Gomez-Bautista, M.; Del Pozo, I.; Jimenez-Ruiz, E.; Aduriz, G.; Ortega-Mora LM. Influence of *Neospora caninum* intra-specific variability in the outcome of infection in a pregnant BALB/c mouse model. Veterinary Research 2010;41:41–52. doi:10.1051/vetres/2010024.
- [45] Chryssafidis AL, Cantón G, Chianini F, Innes EA, Madureira EH, Gennari SM. Pathogenicity of Nc-Bahia and Nc-1 strains of *Neospora caninum* in experimentally infected cows and buffaloes in early pregnancy. Parasitology Research 2014;1521–8. doi:10.1007/s00436-014-3796-x.
- [46] Pereira García-Melo D, Regidor-Cerrillo J, Collantes-Fernández E, Aguado-Martínez A, Del Pozo I, Minguijón E, et al. Pathogenic characterization in mice of *Neospora caninum* isolates obtained from asymptomatic calves. Parasitology 2010;137:1057–68. doi:10.1017/S0031182009991855.

ARTICLE II

Detection of antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona*, *Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma* gondii in horses, dogs and cats from Paraná state, Brazil

1 INTRODUCTION

Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum and *Toxoplasma gondii* are protozoa of the *Sarcocystidae* family, that can cause systemic disease in many species of domestic and wild animals (DUBEY; LINDSAY, 1996; DUBEY et al., 2001; DUBEY, 2008; DUBEY et al., 2015).

S. neurona is often associated as the cause of equine protozoal mieloencephalitis (MEP) in the Americas (DUBEY et al., 2001). MPS-like disease occurs in other animals, including martens, raccoons, skunks, pacific seals, ponies, southern sea otters (DUBEY; HAMIR, 2000), dogs (DUBEY et al., 2006; COOLEY et al., 2007; DUBEY et al., 2014) and cats (DUBEY; HAMIR, 2000; DUBEY et al., 2003).

N. caninum is the etiological agent of neosporosis, an infectious disease considered to be the leading cause of reproductive loss in cattle and neuromuscular diseases in dogs around the world (DONAHOE et al., 2015). *N. caninum* has already been detected in horses, but *N. hughesi* has been identified as the leading cause of neurological disease in most horses (LINDSAY, 2001; DUBEY, 2003; LOCATELLI-DITTRICH et al., 2006a). In cats there are still no reports of naturally infected animals by *N. caninum*, however, the presence of antibody against *N. caninum* has been reported in domestic and wild cats (DUBEY et al., 2009; ONUMA et al., 2014).

T. gondii is widely prevalent in humans and animals in Brazil (DUBEY et al., 2012) and all over the world (DUBEY, 2008). *T. gondii* DNA has been detected in the retina, choroid and sclera of a 17-year-old pony (TURNER; SAVVA, 1991), in an equine placenta (TURNER; SAVVA, 1990) and in a foal (TURNER; SAVVA, 1992), showing that horses may be susceptible to *T. gondii* and that vertical transmission may occur in pregnant mares. However, horses are considered one of the less sensitive species to the pathogenic effect of *T. gondii* (TASSI, 2007). Primary toxoplasmosis is rare in dogs (DUBEY, 2010) and it is mainly observed in immunosuppressed dogs, often with canine morbillivirus infection (canine distemper virus) (DUBEY; BEATTIE, 1988). Cats infected with *T. gondii* have not shown any symptoms, but signs of the disease have been observed in immunosuppressed cats

especially infected with feline immunodeficiency virus or feline leukemia virus (PLATT et al., 2014).

The prevalence of antibodies against *S. neurona* in horses from different regions of Brazil ranges from 20.8% to 90% (HOANE et al., 2006; ANTONELLO et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2018), and there is a lower prevalence of antibodies against *Neospora spp.* and *T. gondii*, ranging from 2.5% to 47% for *Neospora spp.* (LOCATELLI-DITTRICH et al., 2006; HOANE et al., 2006; ABREU et al., 2014; LASKOSKI et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2018) and 0.9% to 25% for *T. gondii* (LOCATELLI-DITTRICH et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2006; LASKOSKI et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2018).

In dogs from Brazil, there is still no report of the presence of antibodies against *S. neurona*. A study carried out with research of anti-*S. neurona* antibody in 47 dogs by indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT), from the Paulicéia region in São Paulo, Brazil, did not detect the antibody in any of the dogs (OLIVEIRA et al., 2017). The prevalence of antibodies against *N. caninum* in dogs in the region of Curitiba have been demonstrated in some studies, and ranged from 10.52% to 25% (LOCATELLI-DITTRICH et al., 2008; FRIDLUND-PLUGGE et al., 2008; ABREU et al., 2014). In other studies, the prevalence of *T. gondii* antibodies in dogs from Curitiba was 30.7% (CONSTANTINO et al., 2016), and dogs with neurological signs showed 21.8% seropositivity (PLUGGE et al., 2011).

Cats may show elevated antibody titers when submitted to experimental infection by *S. neurona* (DUBEY et al., 2002b). In Brazil, antibodies against *S. neurona* were detected in 4% of serum samples from cats in the region of Bahia (MENESES et al., 2014), however, in a study with cats from São Paulo, antibodies against *S. neurona* were not detected in this species (DUBEY et al., 2002a). The prevalence of antibodies against *N. caninum* in cats from São Paulo in Brazil is 11.9% (DUBEY et al., 2002) and 24.5% (BRESCIANI et al., 2007). In Curitiba, Paraná, the seroprevalence of anti-*T. gondii* antibodies in cats is 16.3% (CRUZ et al., 2011).

There is no serological data about the frequency of antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona* in horses, dogs and cats from Paraná state in southern Brazil, and serological data of antibodies against *Neospora caninum* in cats in the same region is unknown. Therefore, our study aimed to verify the frequency of antibodies and the presence of co-infection with *Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* in horses, dogs and cats from the region of Curitiba in the state of Paraná, in southern Brazil.

2 MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 ANIMALS AND SAMPLES

Serum samples of 100 horses, 100 dogs and 100 cats from the routine of the Veterinary Clinical Pathology Laboratory of the Veterinary Hospital in the Federal University of Paraná were selected. These animals were of different breeds and ages (adults), males and females, from the urban and rural region of Curitiba (-25.429722 S, -49.271944 O and altitude of 934 m) in the state of Paraná, Brazil.

Of the 100 serum samples from dogs, 35 were from dogs with neurological sign (convulsion) and 65 from dogs without neurological signs but with other clinical signs. The serum samples from 100 horses and 100 cats were obtained from animals that did not showed neurological signs and were attended due to other clinical signs.

Blood samples (3-5 ml) were collected by jugular vein puncture in siliconized vacutainer tubes without anticoagulant and centrifuged at 3700 x g (relative centrifugal force) for 10 minutes. The serum samples obtained were transferred to microtubes and frozen at -20°C until analysis.

Blood samples were collected between September 2016 and March 2017, with the approval of the Ethics Committee on Animal Use (CEUA) of the Sector of Agricultural Sciences of UFPR under number 065/2016.

2.2 CULTIVATION OF PARASITES TO PRODUCE ANTIGEN

Merozoites of *Sarcocystis neurona* (SN37R) (SOFALY et al., 2002), *Neospora caninum* tachyzoites (NC-1) (DUBEY et al., 1988) and *Toxoplasma gondii* tachyzoites (RH) (NICOLLE; MANCEAUX, 1908) were cultured to perform indirect fluorescence antibody test.

All protozoa were cultured *in vitro* in Roux flasks containing Vero cell monolayers (African green monkey kidney cells) in Eagle's medium supplemented with 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin and incubated at 37°C with 5% of CO₂ as described by Koch et al. (2016) when isolating and cultivating *T. gondii in vitro*.

Samples were collected twice a week. The collected medium was centrifuged at 1200 x g for 10 min, washed with sterile saline phosphate buffer (pH 7.2), passed through a 26G needle and filtered with a 5 μ m filter-syringe.

Approximately 0.8 to 1 x 10^4 merozoites of *S. neurona* and tachyzoites of *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* diluted in 30 µl of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) were added to the slides for

indirect fluorescence antibody test, and then dried outdoors for 6 to 12 hours. The slides containing the antigens were frozen at -20°C until analysis.

2.3 INDIRECT FLUORESCENCE ANTIBODY TEST (IFAT)

All the 300 serum samples were analyzed using indirect fluorescence antibody test to investigate the presence of circulating IgG antibodies specific for *S. neurona*, *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* antigens, at the respective dilutions and species-specific anti-IgGs conjugates, as below:

- horses: 1:50, 1:50 and 1:16; rabbit anti-horse IgG whole molecule FITC (F7759, Sigma-Aldrich®) at a 1:100 dilution;
- dogs: 1:50, 1:50 and 1:16; rabbit polyclonal anti-Dog IgG whole molecule FITC (F4012, Sigma-Aldrich®) at a 1:100 dilution;
- Cats: 1:50, 1:50 and 1:50; goat anti-cat IgG FITC (ab112800, ABCAM®) at a 1:200 dilution;

Only the samples that showed fluorescence of the whole surface of the parasite were considered positive. The positive samples were diluted until reaching the maximum titration. Previously positive and negative sera for *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii* were included in each reaction as control, according to the species analyzed.

2.4 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The means of the group of 100 dogs (35 dogs with neurological sign and 65 dogs without neurological signs) were compared by Fisher's exact test for the three protozoa with a 95% confidence interval. P<0.05 was considered significant.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Among the 100 horse serum samples, 42%, 58% and 36% were positive for anti-*S. neurona*, anti-*N. caninum* and anti-*T. gondii* antibody (IgG), respectively (Table 1). A high prevalence of IgG antibodies against *S. neurona* in horses (42%) was detected in our study, but within values already found in other regions of Brazil, ranging from 20.8% to 90% by IFAT (HOANE et al., 2006; ANTONELLO et al., 2015; RIBEIRO et al., 2016; BORGES et al., 2017; OLIVEIRA et al., 2017; SPOHR et al., 2018).

Table 1. Frequency of IgG antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* in the sera of horses, dogs and cats, tested by indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT):

	Seropositive animals (%)				
Species	Sarcocystis neurona	Neospora caninum	Toxoplasma gondii		
Horses (n=100)	42	58*	36		
Dogs (n=100)	7	68	20		
Cats (n=100)	5	42	21		
	1.7	3.7			

* Denotes Neospora spp.

The prevalence of IgG against *N. caninum* (58%) detected in horses was higher than the percentage detected by Locatelli-Dittrich et al. (2006) in the same region, which was 47% in mares of rural properties in the state of Paraná. However, serological tests such as ELISA, indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT) and direct agglutination test (DAT) cannot differentiate *N. caninum* from *N. hughesi* (WALSH et al., 2000), so *Neospora spp.* was detected in the serum samples of the horses in this study. Little is known about the pathogenicity or prevalence of *neospora* antibodies in horses, and currently there are no serological tests to differentiate *N. hughesi* and *N. caninum* (LINDSAY, 2001).

The seroprevalence of *T. gondii* in the horses of this study was also higher, 36% of horses were detected seropositive, unlike other studies that detected 2.7% of seropositive mares in the same region (LOCATELLI-DITTRICH et al., 2006), and 19.9% of seropositive horses in southern state of Minas Gerais (RIBEIRO et al., 2016).

Of the 100 serum samples from dogs, 7%, 68% and 20% were positive for anti-*S.neurona*, anti-*N. caninum* and anti-*T. gondii* antibodies, respectively (Table 1). Our results demonstrated 7% of *S. neurona*-seropositive dogs with titers that reached 1:500, contrary to the work of Oliveira et al. (2017), who did not detect anti-*S. neurona* antibodies in any of the 47 dogs in the Paulicéia region, in São Paulo, Brazil. We also found a greater number of seropositive dogs for *N. caninum* (68%) than other surveys conducted in the same region, which obtained results between 10.52% and 25% of dogs positive for anti-*N. caninum* antibody (LOCATELLI-DITTRICH et al., 2008; FRIDLUND-PLUGGE et al., 2008; ABREU et al., 2014). The prevalence of seropositive dogs for *T. gondii* (20%) in this study was close to the results obtained in other studies, which were 21.8% (PLUGGE et al., 2011) and 30.7% (CONSTANTINO et al., 2016).

Of the 100 serum samples from cats, 5%, 42% and 21% were positive for anti-*S. neurona,* anti *N. caninum* and anti *T. gondii* IgG antibody, respectively (Table 1). We obtained a result of 5% of seropositive cats for *S. neurona* with a maximum titre of 1:100, close to the result

obtained in seropositive cats in the state of Bahia, which was 4% (MENESES et al., 2014) but with a higher titre of 1:800. A study carried out in the State of São Paulo did not detect any sample of seropositive cat for *S. neurona* (DUBEY et al., 2002a). The prevalence of seropositive cats for *N. caninum* was 42% in the region of Curitiba, above values found in regions of the state of São Paulo, which were 11.9% (DUBEY et al., 2002) and 24,5%, (BRESCIANI et al., 2007). In our study, 21% of cats were found positive to *T. gondii*, close to the value found by Cruz et al. (2011) in the same region.

The maximum titers of IgG antibodies against *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii* detected in horse sera were 1:600 for all parasites (Table 2). In dogs, the maximum titers of IgG antibodies against *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii* detected in serum were 1:500, 1:1200 and 1:100, respectively. In cats, the maximum titers of IgG antibodies against *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii* detected in serum were 1:100, 1:600 and 1:1200, respectively (Table 2).

Table 2. Maximum titre of IgG antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* detected in sera from horses, dogs and cats, tested by indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT):

	Maximum titre				
Species	Sarcocystis neurona	Neospora caninum	Toxoplasma gondii		
Horses(n=100)	1:600 (n=3)	1:600* (n=6)	1:600 (n=3)		
Dogs(n=100)	1:500 (n=2)	1:1200 (n=2)	1:100 (n=3)		
Cats (n=100)	1:100 (n=2)	1:600 (n=2)	1:1200 (n=4)		
* Denotes Neospora spp.					

The frequency of co-infection by *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii* in horses, dogs and cats is shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Frequency of co-infection detected by IgG antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* in the sera of horses, dogs and cats, tested by indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT):

		Seropositive animals (%)					
	S. neurona and	S. neurona and N. caninum S. neurona S. neurona, T. gondii					
Species	N. caninum	and <i>T. gondii</i>	and T. gondii	and N. caninum			
Horses (n=100)	15*	13*	5	11*			
Dogs (n=100)	3	14	1	3			
Cats (n=100)	1	8	1	0			

* Denotes Neospora spp.

The serum IgG antibody frequency of the 35 dogs with neurological sign was 8.6%, 68.6% and 25.7% for *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii*, respectively (Table 4). The frequency of IgG antibodies in the sera of the 65 dogs without neurological signs was 6.2%, 67.7% and 16.9% for *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii*, respectively (Table 4).

Table 4. Frequency of IgG antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* detected in the sera of 100 dogs (35 with neurological signs and 65 without neurological signs), tested by indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT):

	Seropositive dogs (%)			
Dogs	Sarcocystis neurona	Neospora caninum	Toxoplasma gondii	
With neurological signs (n=35)	8,6	68,6	25,7	
Without neurological signs (n=65)	6,2	67,7	16,9	
P-value*	0.69	1.00	0.45	

* Denotes p-value by Fisher's exact test with a 95% confidence interval where P<0.05 was considered significant

In the current study, the statistical difference for circulating IgG antibodies in the groups of 35 dogs with neurological sign and 65 dogs without neurological signs for specific *Sarcocystis neurona* (P=0.69), *Neospora caninum* (P=1.00) and *Toxoplasma gondii* (P=0.45) antigens were not significant.

In the group of dogs with neurological sign, a frequency of 68.6% of antibodies against *N*. *caninum* and 25.7% against *T. gondii* was obtained, above the values obtained by Plugge et al. (2011), which were 11.56% and 21.08%, respectively, among dogs with neurological signs in the same region.

Antibodies against *S. neurona* were detected in dogs with and without neurological signs, in the percentage of 8.6% and 6.2%, respectively, indicating that dogs with neurological signs already had contact with the protozoan.

The maximum titre of IgG antibodies against *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii* detected in sera from 35 dogs with neurological sign were 1:50, 1:1200 and 1:100, respectively (Table 5). The maximum titre of IgG antibodies against *S. neurona, N. caninum* and *T. gondii* detected in the sera of the 65 dogs without neurological signs were 1:500, 1:600 and 1:50, respectively (Table 5).

Table 5. Maximum titre of IgG antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona, Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* detected in the sera of 100 dogs (35 with neurological signs and 65 without neurological signs), tested by indirect fluorescence antibody test (IFAT):

	Maximum titre			
Dogs	Sarcocystis	Neospora	Toxoplasma	
Dogs	neurona	caninum	gondii	
With neurological signs (n=35)	1:50 (n=1)	1:1200(n=2)	1:100(n=3)	
Without neurological signs (n=65)	1:500(n=1)	1:600(n=4)	1:50(n=2)	

4 CONCLUSION

This study was the first to report the presence of IgG antibodies against *S. neurona* and *N. caninum* in cats from Curitiba and detected IgG antibodies against *S. neurona* with high titers in dogs in Brazil.

No statistical difference was found between groups of seropositive dogs for *S. neurona*, *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* antigens with neurological sign and without neurological signs, but the titers were higher in seropositive dogs for *N. caninum* and *T. gondii* with neurological signs.

Our results indicate that horses, dogs and cats from Curitiba, in the state of Paraná, Brazil, are exposed to infection by *S. neurona*, *N. caninum* and *T. gondii*.

REFERENCES

ABREU, R. A.; WEISS, R. R.; THOMAZ-SOCCOL, V.; LOCATELLI-DITTRICH, R.; LASKOSKI, L. M.; BERTOL, M. A. F.; KOCH, M. O.; ALBAN, S.M.; GREEN, K.T. Association of antibodies against *Neospora caninum* in mares with reproductive problems and presence of seropositive dogs as a risk factor. **Veterinary Parasitology**, v. 202, n. 3-4, p. 128–131, 2014. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2014.03.022.

ANTONELLO, A. M.; PIVOTO, F. L.; CAMILLO, G.; BRAUNIG, P.; SANGIONI, L. A.; POMPERMAYER, E.; VENTURINI, M. C.; VOGEL, F. S. F. *Investigation of antibodies against Sarcocystis neurona* and *Sarcocystis cruzi* in equines. **Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia,** v. 67, n. 5, p. 1465–1468, 2015. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4162-7374.

BORGES, A. M. C. M.; YEARGAN, M. R.; SILVA, L. G.; TAQUES, I. I. G. G.; HOWE, D.; AGUIAR, D. M. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science Antibodies Against *Sarcocystis neurona*, *Neospora spp.*, and *Toxoplasma gondii* in Horses and Mules From the Northern Pantanal Wetland of Brazil. Journal of *Equine Veterinary Science*, v. 56, p. 19–25, 2017. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2017.04.007.

BRESCIANI, K. D. S.; GENNARI, S. M.; SERRANO, A. C. M.; RODRIGUES, A. A. R.; UENO, T.; FRANCO, L. G.; PERRI, S. H. V; AMARANTE, A. F. T. Antibodies to *Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* in domestic cats from Brazil. **Parasitology Research,** v. 100, n. 2, p. 281–285, 2007. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-006-0262-4.

CONSTANTINO, C.; PELLIZZARO, M.; PAULA, E. F. E.; VIEIRA, T. S. W. J.; BRANDÃO, A. P. D.; FERREIRA, F.; VIEIRA, R. F. C.; LANGONI, H.; BIONDO, A. W. Serosurvey for *Leishmania spp., Toxoplasma gondii, Trypanosoma cruzi* and *Neospora caninum* in neighborhood dogs in Curitiba-Paraná, Brazil. **Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária**, v. 25, n. 4, p. 504–510, 2016. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/s1984-29612016062.

COOLEY, A. J.; BARR, B.; REJMANEK, D. *Sarcocystis neurona* encephalitis in a dog. **Veterinary Pathology,** v. 44, p. 956–961, 2007. doi: https://doi.org/10.1354/vp.44-6-956.

CRUZ, M. A.; ULLMANN, L. S.; MONTANO, P. Y.; HOFFMANN, J. L.; LANGONI, H.; BIONDO, A. W. Seroprevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in cats from Curitiba, Parana, Brazil. **Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária,** v. 20, n. 3, p. 256–258, 2011. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-29612011000300016.

DONAHOE, S. L.; LINDSAY, S. A.; KROCKENBERGER, M.; PHALEN, D.; ŠLAPETA, J. A review of neosporosis and pathologic findings of *Neospora caninum* infection in wildlife. **International Journal** *for* **Parasitology: Parasites** *and* **Wildlife,** *v.* 4, n. 2, p. 216–238, 2015. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijppaw.2015.04.002.

DUBEY, A. J. P.; BEATTIE, C. P. Toxoplasmosis of Animals and Man. CRC Press., Boca Raton, FL, USA, 1988, 200 p.

DUBEY, A. J. P.; HAMIR, A. N. Immunohistochemical Confirmation of *Sarcocystis neurona* Infections in Raccoons, Mink, Cat, Skunk and Pony. **Journal of Parasitology,** v. 86, n. 5, p. 1150–1152, 2000. doi: https://doi.org/10.1645/0022-3395(2000)086[1150:ICOSNI]2.0.CO;2.

DUBEY, A. J. P.; LINDSAY, D. S.; HILL, D.; ROMAND, S.; THULLIEZ, P.; KWOK, O.
C. H.; SILVA, J. C. R.; GENNARI, S. M. Prevalence of Antibodies to *Neospora caninum* and *Sarcocystis neurona* in Sera of Domestic Cats From Brazil. Journal of Parasitology, v. 88, n.
6, p. 1251–1252, 2002. doi: https://doi.org/10.1645/0022-3395(2002)088[1251:POATNC]2.0.CO;2.

DUBEY, J. P. The history of *Toxoplasma gondii* - The first 100 years. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology, v. 55, n. 6, p. 467–475, 2008. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2008.00345.x.

DUBEY, J. P. Review of *Neospora caninum* and neosporosis in animals. **Korean Journal of Parasitology,** v. 41, n. 1, p. 1–16, 2003. doi: https://doi.org/10.3347/kjp.2003.41.1.1.

DUBEY, J. P. Toxoplasmosis of Animals and Humans. 2 ed. CRC Press., Parasites & Vectors, 2010, 336 p.

DUBEY, J. P.; BENSON, J.; LARSON, M. A. Clinical *Sarcocystis neurona* encephalomyelitis in a domestic cat following routine surgery. **Veterinary Parasitology**, v. 112, n. 4, p. 261–267, 2003. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4017(03)00019-0.

DUBEY, J. P.; BLACK, S. S.; VERMA, S. K.; CALERO-BERNAL, R.; MORRIS, E.; HANSON, M. A.; COOLEY, A. J. *Sarcocystis neurona* schizonts-associated encephalitis, chorioretinitis, and myositis in a two-month-old dog simulating toxoplasmosis, and presence of mature sarcocysts in muscles. **Veterinary Parasitology**, v. 202, n. 3-4, p. 194–200, 2014. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2014.02.055.

DUBEY, J. P.; CHAPMAN, J. L.; ROSENTHAL, B. M.; MENSE, M.; SCHUELER, R. L. Clinical *Sarcocystis neurona*, *Sarcocystis canis*, *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Neospora caninum* infections in dogs. **Veterinary Parasitology**, v. 137, n. 1-2, p. 36–49. 2006. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2005.12.017.

DUBEY, J. P.; HATTEL, A. L.; LINDSAY, D. S.; TOPPER, M. J. Neonatal *Neospora caninum* infection in dogs: Isolation of the causative agent and experimental transmission. **Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association,** v. 193, n. 10, p. 1259–1263, 1988.

DUBEY, J. P., HOWE, D. K., FURR, M., SAVILLE, W. J., MARSH, A. E., REED, S. M., & Grigg, M. E. An update on *Sarcocystis neurona* infections in animals and equine protozoal myeloencephalitis (EPM). **Veterinary Parasitology**, v. 209, n. 1-2, p. 1–42, 2015. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2015.01.026.

DUBEY, J. P.; LAGO, E. G.; GENNARI, S. M.; SU, C.; JONES, J. L. Toxoplasmosis in humans and animals in Brazil: high prevalence, high burden of disease, and epidemiology. **Parasitology,** v. 139, n. 11, p. 1375-1424, 2012. doi: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182012000765.

DUBEY, J. P.; LINDSAY, D. S. A review of *Neospora caninum* and neosporosis. **Veterinary Parasitology,** v. 67, n. 1-2, p. 1–59, 1996. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4017(96)01035-7. DUBEY, J. P.; LINDSAY, D. S.; HILL, D.; ROMAND, S.; THULLIEZ, P.; KWOK, O. C. H.; SILVA, J. C. R.; OLIVEIRA-CAMARGO, M. C.; GENNARI, S. M. Prevalence of antibodies to *Neospora caninum* and *Sarcocystis neurona* in sera of domestic cats from Brazil. Journal of Parasitology, v. 88, n. 6, p. 1251–1252. 2002a. doi: https://doi.org/10.1645/0022-3395(2002)088[1251:POATNC]2.0.CO;2.

DUBEY, J. P.; LINDSAY, D. S.; LAPPIN, M. R. Toxoplasmosis and Other Intestinal Coccidial Infections in Cats and Dogs. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, v. 39, n. 6, p. 1009–1034, 2009. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2009.08.001.

DUBEY, J. P.; LINDSAY, D. S.; SAVILLE, W. J. A.; REED, S. M.; GRANSTROM, D. E.; SPEER, C. A. A review of *Sarcocystis neurona* and equine protozoal myeloencephalitis (EPM). **Veterinary Parasitology,** v. 95, n. 2-4, p. 89–131, 2001. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4017(00)00384-8.

DUBEY, J. P.; LINDSAY, D. S.; SAVILLE, W. J. A. Serologic responses of cats against experimental *Sarcocystis neurona* infections. **Veterinary Parasitology,** v. 107, n. 3, p. 265–269, 2002b. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4017(02)00157-7.

FRIDLUNG-PLUGGE, N.; MONTIANI-FERREIRA, F.; RICHARTZ, R. R.; DAL PIZZOL, J.; MACHADO, P. C.; PATRÍCIO, L. F.; ROSINELLI, A. S.; LOCATELLI-DITTRICH, R. Frequency of antibodies against *Neospora caninum* in stray and domiciled dogs from urban, periurban and rural areas from Paraná State, Southern Brazil. **Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária,** v. 17, n. 4, p. 222–226, 2008. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1984-29612008000400010.

HOANE, S. J.; SOLANGE, M.; DUBEY, J. P.; RIBEIRO, M. G.; BORGES, A. S.; YAI, L. E. O.; AGUIAR, D. M.; CAVALCANTE, G. T.; BONESI, G. L.; HOWE, D. K. Prevalence of *Sarcocystis neurona* and *Neospora spp.* infection in horses from Brazil based on presence of serum antibodies to parasite surface antigen. **Veterinary Parasitology**, v. 136, n. 2, p. 155–159, 2006. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2005.10.023.

KOCH, M. O.; WEISS, R. R.; CRUZ, A. A.; SOCCOL, V. T.; GONÇALVES, K. A.; BERTOL, M. A. F.; BELTRAME, O. C.; DITTRICH, R. L. Detection and isolation of *Toxoplasma gondii* from fresh semen of naturally infected dogs in Southern Brazil. **Reproduction in Domestic Animals,** v. 51, n. 4, p. 550–554, 2016. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/rda.12718.

LASKOSKI, L. M.; MURARO, L. S.; DITTRICH, R. L.; ABREU, R. A.; KOCH, M. O.; SILVA, F. T.; HAGI, R. H. Occurrence of anti-*Neospora caninum* and anti-*Toxoplasma gondii* antibodies in horses in the Pantanal of Mato Grosso, Brazil. **Semina: Ciências** Agrárias, v. 36, n. 2, p. 895–900, 2015. doi: https://doi.org/10.5433/1679-0359.2015v36n2p895.

LINDSAY, D.S. Neosporosis: an emerging protozoal disease of horses. **Equine Veterinary Journal**, v. 33, n. 2, p. 116–118, 2001. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-3306.2001.tb00588.x.

LOCATELLI-DITTRICH, R.; DITTRICH, J. R.; RICHARTZ, R. R. T. B.; GASINO JOINEAU, M. E.; ANTUNES, J.; PINCKNEY, R. D.; DECONTO, I.; HOFFMANN, D. C. S.; THOMAZ-SOCCOL, V. Investigation of *Neospora sp.* and *Toxoplasma gondii* antibodies in mares and in precolostral foals from Parana State, Southern Brazil. Veterinary Parasitology, v. 135, n. 3-4, p. 215–221, 2006. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2005.10.010.

LOCATELLI-DITTRICH, R.; HOFFMANN, D. C. S.; DITTRICH, J. R. Neosporose Equina – Revisão (Equine neosporosis – review). Archives of Veterinary Science, v. 11, n.3, p. 1– 10, 2006a.

LOCATELLI-DITTRICH, R.; MACHADO JR, P. C.; FRINDLUNG-PLUGGE, N.; RICHARTZ, R. R. T.B.; MONTIANI-FERREIRA, F.; PATRÍCIO, L. F. L.; PATRÍCIO, M. A. C.; JOINEAU, M. G.; PIEPPE, M. Determinação e correlação de anticorpos anti-*Neospora caninum* em bovinos e cães do Paraná, Brasil. **Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária,** v. 17, n. 1, p. 191–196, 2008.

MENESES, I. D.; ANDRADE, M. R.; UZÊDA, R. S.; BITTENCOURT, M. V.; LINDSAY,

D. S.; GONDIM, L. F. Frequency of antibodies against *Sarcocystis neurona* and *Neospora caninum* in domestic cats in the state of Bahia, Brazil. **Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária,** v. 23, n. 4, p. 526–529, 2014. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-29612014080.

NICOLLE, C.; MANCEAUX, L. Sur une infection a corps de Leishman (ou organismes voisons) du gondi. Académie Royale des Sciences, v. 147, p. 763-766, 1908.

OLIVEIRA, S.; SILVA, N. Q. B.; SILVEIRA, I.; LABRUNA, M. B.; GENNARI, S. M.; PENA, H. F. J. Occurrences of antibodies against *Toxoplasma gondii*, *Neospora spp.*, and *Sarcocystis neurona* in horses and dogs in the municipality of Pauliceia, São Paulo, Brazil. **Brazilian Journal of Veterinary Research and Animal Science**, v. 54, n. 3, p. 277–282, 2017. doi: https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.1678-4456.bjvras.2017.123956.

ONUMA, S. S. M.; MELO, A. L. T.; KANTEK, D. L. Z.; CRAWSHAW-JUNIOR, P. G.; MORATO, R. G.; MAY-JÚNIOR, J. A.; PACHECO, T. A.; AGUIAR, D. M. Exposure of free-living jaguars to *Toxoplasma gondii*, *Neospora caninum* and *Sarcocystis neurona* in the Brazilian Pantanal. **Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária**, v. 23, n. 4, p. 547–553, 2014. doi: https://dx.doi.org/10.1590/s1984-29612014077.

PLATT S. R.; OLBY N. J. **BSAVA Manual of Canine and Feline Neurology.** 4 ed. British Small Animal Veterinary Association, Quedgeley, UK, 2014, 542 p.

PLUGGE, N. F.; FERREIRA, F. M.; RICHARTZ, R. R. T. D. B.; SIQUEIRA, A.; DITTRICH, R. L. Occurrence of antibodies against *Neospora caninum* and/or *Toxoplasma gondii* in dogs with neurological signs. **Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária**, v. 20, n. 3, p. 202–206, 2011. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-29612011000300004.

RIBEIRO, M. J.; ROSA, M. H.; BRUHN, F. R.; GARCIA, A. M.; ROCHA, C. M.; GUIMARÃES, A. M. Soroepidemiology of *Sarcocystis neurona* and *Neospora spp.* among horses in the south of the state of Minas Gerais, Brazil. **Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária**, v. 25, n. 2, p, 142–150, 2016. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1984-29612016029.

SOFALY, C. D.; REED, S. M.; GORDON, J. C.; DUBEY, J. P.; OGLEEBEE, M. J.;

NJOKU, C. J.; GROVER, D. L.; SAVILLE, W. J. A. Experimental induction of equine protozoan myeloencephalitis (EPM) in the horse: effect of *Sarcocystis neurona* sporocyst inoculation dose on the development of clinical neurologic disease. **Journal of Parasitology**, v. 88, n. 6, p. 1164–1170, 2002. doi: https://doi.org/10.1645/0022-3395(2002)088[1164:EIOEPM]2.0.CO;2.

SPOHR, K. A. H.; BORGES, A. M. C. M.; RIBEIRO, T. M. P.; JAYME, V. S.; GODOY, I.; NAKAZATO, L.; DUTRA, V.; AGUIAR, D. M. Risk factors associated to the prevalence of anti-*Sarcocystis neurona*, *Neospora* spp. and *Toxoplasma gondii* antibodies in horses from Roraima, Brazilian Amazon. **Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira**, v. 38, n. 7, p. 1337–1343, 2018. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-5150-PVB-5127.

TASSI P. *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in horses. A review. **Parassitologia**, v. 49, n. 1-2, p. 7–15, 2007.

TURNER, C. B.; SAVVA, D. Evidence of *Toxoplasma gondii* in an equine placenta. **Veterinary Record,** v. 127, n. 4, p. 96, 1990.

TURNER, C. B.; SAVVA, D. Detection of *Toxoplasma gondii* in equine eyes. Veterinary Record, v. 129, n. 6, p. 128, 1991.

TURNER, C. B.; SAVVA, D. Transplacental infection of a foal with *Toxoplasma gondii*. **Veterinary Record,** v. 131, n. 8, p. 179–180, 1992. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/vr.131.8.179.

WALSH, C. P.; DUNCAN, R. B.; ZAJAC, A. M.; BLAGBURN, B. L.; LINDSAY, D. S. *Neospora hughesi*: Experimental infections in mice, gerbils, and dogs. **Veterinary Parasitology,** v. 92, n. 2, p. 119–128, 2000. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4017(00)00279-X.

SUPPLEMENT



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ SETOR DE CIÊNCIAS AGRÁRIAS COMISSÃO DE ÉTICA NO USO DE ANIMAIS

CERTIFICADO

Certificamos que o protocolo número065/2016, referente ao projeto "Soroprevalência para Sarcocystis neurona, Toxoplasma gondii e Neospora caninum em cães, gatos e equinos com sinais neurológicos e/ou miopatia e diagnóstico sorológico e molecular de S. neurona, T. gondii e N. caninum em ovinos e caprinos", sob a responsabilidade de Rosangela Locatelli Dittrich- que envolve a produção, manutenção e/ou utilização de animais pertencentes ao filo Chordata, subfilo Vertebrata (exceto o homem), para fins de pesquisa científica ou ensino – encontra-se de acordo com os preceitos da Lei nº 11.794, de 8 de Outubro, de 2008, do Decreto nº 6.899, de 15 de julho de 2009, e com as normas editadas pelo Conselho Nacional de Controle da Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), efoi aprovado pela COMISSÃO DE ÉTICA NO USO DE ANIMAIS (CEUA) DO SETOR DE CIÊNCIAS AGRÁRIAS DA UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ - BRASIL, com grau 1de invasividade, em reunião de 10/08/2016.

Vigência do projeto	Setembro/2016 até Fevereiro/2018
Espécie/Linhagem	Cão; caprino; equídeo; gato; ovino
Número de animais	550 (100; 100; 100; 100; 150 respectivamente)
Peso/Idade	3 a 40 kg; 30 a 150 kg; 380 a 1.000 kg; 3 a 15 kg; 30 a 150 kg / Adulto
Sexo	Ambos
Origem	Rotina do Laboratório de Patologia Clínica Veterinária da Universidade Federal do Paraná e fazendas dos estados do Paraná e de Santa Catarina

CERTIFICATE

We certify that the protocol number 065/2016, regarding the project "Seroprevalence of Sarcocystis neurona, Toxoplasma gondii and Neospora caninum in dogs, cats and horses with neurological signs and/or myopathy and serological and molecular diagnosis of S. neurona, T. gondii and N. caninum in sheep and goats" under Rosangela Locatelli Dittrich supervision – which includes the production, maintenance and/or utilization of animals from Chordata phylum, Vertebrata subphylum (except Humans), for scientific or teaching purposes – is in accordance with the precepts of Law nº 11.794, of8 October, 2008, of Decree nº 6.899, of 15 July, 2009, and with the edited rules from Conselho Nacional de Controle da Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), and it was approved by theANIMAL USE ETHICS COMMITTEE OF THE AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES CAMPUS OF THE UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ (Federal University of the State of Paraná, Brazil), with degree 1 of invasiveness, in session of10/08/2016.

Duration of the project	September/2016until February/2018
Specie/Line	Dog; caprine; equine; cat; ovine
Number of animals	550 (100; 100; 100; 100; 150 respectively)
Wheight/Age	3 to 40 kg; 30 to 150 kg; 380 to 1.000 kg; 3 to 15 kg; 30 to 150 kg / Adult
Sex	Both
Origin	Laboratory of Veterinary Clinic Pathology at the Federal University of Parana and farms in the states of Parana and Santa Catarina

Curitiba, 10 de agosto de 2016.

Simon Toole

Simone Tostes de Oliveira Stedile

Presidente CEUA-SCA

Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais do Setor de Ciências Agrárias - UFPR